
**Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate
the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to request this
service, please contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511

MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA
Beloit City Plan Commission

Wednesday, February 7, 2018 at 7:00 PM
The Forum

Beloit City Hall
100 State Street, Beloit

1. Call to Order and Roll Call

2. Approval of the Minutes of the January 17, 2018 Meeting

3. Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map – 8344 S Schroeder Road – Town of Turtle
Review and consideration of a one-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at
8344 S Schroeder Rd in the Town of Turtle

4. Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map – 2844 W St. Lawrence Avenue
Review and consideration of a one-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at
2844 W St. Lawrence Avenue in the Town of Beloit

5. Street Vacation – Intersection of Maple Avenue and Fourth Street
Review and consideration of a petition to vacate a small part of Maple Avenue right-of-way
west of Fourth Street adjacent to the property located at 1500 Fourth Street

6. Planned Unit Development – Welcome Center – 1500 Fourth Street
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Planned Unit Development Master Land Use
Plan for the construction of Beloit School District administrative offices and Welcome
Center for the property located at 1500 Fourth Street

7. Zoning Map Amendment – 1500 Fourth Street
Public hearing, review and consideration of a Zoning Map Amendment from C-3,
Community Commercial District, to PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the
property located at 1500 Fourth Street

8. Final Plat – 2750 Rachel Terrace
Review and consideration of the Final Plat of The Oaks No. 2 for the property located at
2750 Rachel Terrace



9. Conditional Use Permit – 419 Pleasant Street
Review and consideration of an amendment to the original application for a Conditional
Use Permit to allow a rooftop seating area and to amend the layout of an existing Drive-Up
Automated Teller Machine (ATM) in the CBD-1, Central Business District-Core, for the
property located at 419 Pleasant Street

10. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items

11. Adjournment

If you are unable to attend this meeting, please contact Amber DesRoberts in the Community
Development Department at 364-6650 no later than 4:00 PM the day before the meeting.

Notice Posted: February 2, 2018
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 
Meeting Minutes 

Beloit City Plan Commission 
Wednesday, January 17, 2018 at 7:00 PM 

The Forum 
Beloit City Hall 

100 State Street, Beloit 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call 
Chairperson Faragher called the meeting to order at 7:00pm. Commissioners Haynes, 
Weeden, Faragher, Ruster, Finnegan, Tinder, and Johnson and City Councilor Leavy were 
present. 
 

2. Approval of the Minutes of the December 20, 2017 Meeting 
Commissioner Weeden moved to approve the minutes. Commissioner Johnson seconded 
the motion. The motion passed, voice vote. 
 

3. Conditional Use Permit – 419 Pleasant Street 
Community Development Director, Julie Christensen, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 

John Gackstetter, Hendricks Commercial Properties, approached the podium to address 
any questions regarding the proposal. 

Commissioner Weeden inquired about access to the rooftop and the type of railing 
proposed to be used for the project.  Mr. Gackstetter responded that a railing will not 
cover the entire perimeter; only a code 2 glass railing will be used along the bar/open-
seating area.  This, along with an 8’ dividing wall, will separate the seating area and the rest 
of the roof.  The entire roof will not be accessible to the public. 

Commissioner Faragher asked about the estimated time of completion for this project.  Mr. 
Gackstetter estimated an opening date between the months of June and August, 2018.  
The company is under an aggressive timeline and hope for an opening in 2018.   

Commissioner Ruster asked if there would be a bar on the roof area. Mr. Gackstetter 
responded that operations will have to be worked out regarding the use of the area.  The 
seating area will be mostly used for gatherings and hotel functions and not open for 
outside public use. 

Commissioner Haynes moved to approve the Conditional Use Permit, Commissioner Ruster 
second the motion.  The motion passed, voice vote. 



Page 2 of 2 

 

4. Status Report on Prior Plan Commission Items 
Community Development Director, Julie Christensen, reported that the City Council 
approved the Conditional Use Permit for 1314 Madison Road, the order to relocate utilities 
due to the I-39/I-90 project and the acceptance of the petition to vacate part of the corner 
of Maple Avenue and Fourth Street.  A Planned Unit Development and Re-zoning for the 
new Welcome Center will be brought forward at the next meeting.   
 

5. Adjournment 
Commissioner Tinder moved to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Ruster seconded the 
motion.  
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:25pm. 
 
 
Minutes respectfully submitted by Frank Fuerte. 



   

 

 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: February 7, 2018 
 

Agenda Item: 3 
 

File Number: CSM-2018-01 

Applicant: R.H. Batterman and Co., 
Inc. 

Owner: Eva M. Arnold Declaration of 
Trust 
 

Location: 8344 South Schroeder 
Road 

Existing Zoning: A-E, Exclusive 
Agricultural (Town of Turtle  Zoning) 

Existing Land Use: Agricultural, 
Residential 

Total CSM Area: 1.5 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
R.H. Batterman and Co., Inc., on behalf of Eva M. Arnold Declaration of Trust, has submitted an Application for the 
Review of a Minor Subdivision and a one-lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the property located at 8344 South 
Schroeder Road in the Town of Turtle. According to Section 12.05(1)(b) of the Subdivision Ordinance, the Plan 
Commission may approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor subdivision of land within the City of Beloit’s 
extraterritorial jurisdiction. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The intent of this CSM is to subdivide 1.5 acres from the 70 acre parent parcel, currently zoned A-E, Exclusive 
Agricultural, for the creation of a 1.1-acre lot and a 66 foot wide right-of-way dedication for the Town of Turtle.  

 Proposed Lot 1 will have 251 feet of frontage on South Schroeder Road and will be rezoned to R-R, Rural 
Residential District. Town of Turtle requires a minimum lot size of 35 acres for properties zoned A-E; therefore, a 
request to rezone proposed Lot 1 to R-R has been submitted to the Town of Turtle. 

 Proposed Lot 1 includes an existing single-family dwelling, driveway, well, and septic system.  
 The City’s Review Agents have reviewed the proposed CSM and have not submitted any objections. 
 The application and proposed CSM are attached for your review. 

 

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for 
the property located at 8344 South Schroeder Road, in the Town of Turtle, subject to the following condition: 
 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds by December 31, 2018. 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, CSM, Application, and Resolution



   

 
  



   

 
 
 

  



   

 
  



   

RESOLUTION 

APPROVING A ONE-LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 

FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 8344 SOUTH SCHROEDER ROAD 

 

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the 

City of Beloit entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan 

Commission of the City of Beloit to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor 

subdivision of land within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at 8344 

South Schroeder Road in the Town of Turtle, containing 1.5 acres, more or less, is located within 

the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City of Beloit; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the attached 

one-lot Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land: 

 

PART OF THE NE ¼ OF THE SW ¼ AND PART OF THE SE ¼ OF THE SW 

¼ OF SECTION 11, T. 1 N., R. 13 E., OF THE 4
TH

 P.M., TURTLE TOWNSHIP, 

ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of 

Beloit does hereby conditionally approve the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for the 

property located at 8344 South Schroeder Road in the Town of Turtle, subject to the following 

condition: 

 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds by December 

31, 2018. 

 

Adopted this 7
th

 day of February, 2018. 

 

 

  _ 

 James Faragher, Plan Commission Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

  

Julie Christensen, 

Community Development Director 

 



Feb 7 Staff Report, CSM-2017-22, 2844 W. St. Lawrence Ave., 1 Lot CSM (TOB)   

 

 

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: February 7, 2018 
 

Agenda Item: 4 
 

File Number: CSM-2017-22 

Applicant: Combs & Associates, Inc. Owner: Carroll Sr. Family Trust 
 

Location: 2844 West St. Lawrence 
Avenue 

Existing Zoning: A-1, Farmland 
Preservation District 

Existing Land Use: Agricultural  Total CSM Area: 5 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
Combs & Associates, Inc., on behalf of Carroll Sr. Family Trust, has submitted an Application for the Review of a Minor 
Subdivision and a one-lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for the property located at 2844 West St. Lawrence Avenue in the 
Town of Beloit. According to Section 12.05(1)(b) of the Subdivision Ordinance, the Plan Commission may approve, 
conditionally approve, or reject any minor subdivision of land within the City of Beloit’s extraterritorial jurisdiction. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 On December 20, 2017, the Beloit Plan Commission rejected a proposed one-lot CSM for the subject property. 
Originally,  the applicant proposed the creation a 15 acre lot along the northwest corner of the parent parcel and 
changing the zoning of the new lot from A-1, Farmland Preservation District, to L-1, Light Industrial District.  

 The applicant has revised the one-lot CSM to create a 5 acre lot along the northwest corner of the 160 acre 
parent parcel.  

 The zoning for proposed Lot 1 will be changed from A-1, Farmland Preservation District, to A-2, General 
Agricultural District. The zoning for the remaining parent parcel not included in proposed Lot 1 will remain A-1. 

 Proposed Lot 1 will include 350 feet of frontage on West St. Lawrence Avenue with a 33 foot wide right-of-way 
dedication.  Proposed Lot 1 will be 350 feet wide and 623 feet long. 

 The existing single-family dwelling, repair shop, accessory structures, and driveways will be included within 
proposed Lot 1. The applicant intends to expand the 3,700 square foot repair shop and remove all other existing 
structures and gravel driveways. Future site improvements will include the construction of a new driveway, 
parking area, and 625 square foot addition to the repair shop building. Please see the attached Site Plan. 

 The City’s Review Agents have reviewed the proposed CSM and have not submitted any objections. 
 The application and proposed CSM are attached for your review. 

 

Sustainability: 
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A 

 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map (CSM) for 
the property located at 2844 West St. Lawrence Avenue in the Town of Beloit, subject to the following condition: 
 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds by December 31, 2018. 
 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments: Location & Zoning Map, CSM, Site Plan, Application, and Resolution 



Feb 7 Staff Report, CSM-2017-22, 2844 W. St. Lawrence Ave., 1 Lot CSM (TOB)   

  



Feb 7 Staff Report, CSM-2017-22, 2844 W. St. Lawrence Ave., 1 Lot CSM (TOB)    



Feb 7 Staff Report, CSM-2017-22, 2844 W. St. Lawrence Ave., 1 Lot CSM (TOB)   

  

Site Plan 



Feb 7 Staff Report, CSM-2017-22, 2844 W. St. Lawrence Ave., 1 Lot CSM (TOB)   

 
 

 
  



Feb 7 Staff Report, CSM-2017-22, 2844 W. St. Lawrence Ave., 1 Lot CSM (TOB)   

 

 

RESOLUTION 

APPROVING A ONE-LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 

FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 

2844 WEST ST. LAWRENCE AVENUE 

 

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the City 

of Beloit entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan Commission of 

the City of Beloit to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor subdivision of land within 

the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for the property located at 2844 

West St. Lawrence Avenue in the Town of Beloit, containing 5 acres, more or less, is located within 

the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City of Beloit; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the attached one-

lot Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land: 

 

PART OF OUTLOT 33-68 OF THE ASSESSOR’S PLAT OF BELOIT TOWNSHIP 

AND LOCATED IN THE NE ¼ OF THE SW ¼ OF SECTION 33, T. 1 N., R. 12 E., 

OF THE 4TH P.M., TOWN OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of 

Beloit does hereby conditionally approve the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for the property 

located at 2844 West St. Lawrence Avenue in the Town of Beloit, subject to the following condition: 

 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds by December 31, 

2018. 

 

Adopted this 7th day of February, 2018. 

 

 

  _ 

 James Faragher, Plan Commission Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

  

Julie Christensen, 

Community Development Director 

 



Feb. 7 Staff Report 5, VA-2018-01, Vacation of a Part of Maple Avenue

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: February 7, 2018 Agenda Item: 5 File Number: VA-2018-01

Applicant: School District of Beloit Adjacent Zoning: C-3, Community
Commercial District

Adjacent Land Use: Vacant Land

Request Overview/Background Information:
The Planning & Building Services Division has received a petition to vacate a small part of Maple Avenue right-of-way
west of Fourth Street adjacent to the property located at 1500 Fourth Street.

Key Issues:
 The proposed area to be vacated is 3,439 square feet in area, and consists of excess right-of-way that is a

remnant of the prior alignment of Maple Avenue’s intersection with Fourth Street.
 The intent of this petition is to vacate & attach the excess right-of-way to the adjacent parcel in order to

accommodate the proposed School District of Beloit Administrative Offices/Welcome Center.
 The Petition for Vacation, proposed Plat of Vacation, and proposed site plan are attached to this report.
 All required Public Notices have been distributed and published and the Notice of Pendency was recorded with

the Rock County Register of Deeds on January 24, 2018.
 As required by Wisconsin Statutes, the City Council has adopted a Resolution setting a date for a public hearing

for this vacation request of March 5, 2018.
 The City’s Stormwater Engineer, AT&T, and Charter Communications have noted the presence of buried utility

lines in and near the affected area. There is an existing storm sewer main that will be relocated at the applicant’s
expense as a condition of development approval. Charter’s fiber line has been located at the back (inside) edge of
the bike path and should not conflict with this project, but will need to be marked and protected. AT&T’s line has
been located in the terrace area and will not be affected.

 The City’s other Review Agents did not submit any comments or concerns.

Consistency with Strategic Plan:
 Consideration of this request supports Strategic Goal #3 by creating and sustaining economic and residential

growth.

Sustainability: (Briefly comment on the sustainable long term impact of this policy or program related to how it will impact
both the built and natural environment utilizing the four following eco-municipality guidelines)

 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the request to vacate a 3,439 square-foot part of
Maple Avenue right-of-way west of Fourth Street adjacent to the property located at 1500 Fourth Street, as described in
the attached Plat of Vacation, returning the entire right-of-way to the adjacent property owner.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: PUD Site Plan, Petition, Plat of Vacation, Public Hearing Resolution, & Public Notice.



Feb. 7 Staff Report 5, VA-2018-01, Vacation of a Part of Maple Avenue



Feb. 7 Staff Report 5, VA-2018-01, Vacation of a Part of Maple Avenue



Feb. 7 Staff Report 5, VA-2018-01, Vacation of a Part of Maple Avenue



Feb. 7 Staff Report 5, VA-2018-01, Vacation of a Part of Maple Avenue



Feb. 7 Staff Report 5, VA-2018-01, Vacation of a Part of Maple Avenue



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street

REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: February 7, 2018 Agenda Items: 6 & 7 File Number: PUD-2018-01 &
ZMA-2018-01

Applicant: R.H. Batterman & Co. Owner: School District of Beloit Location: 1500 Fourth Street

Existing Zoning: C-3, Community
Commercial

Existing Land Use: Vacant Land Parcel Size: 1.9 Acres

Request Overview/Background Information:
R.H. Batterman, on behalf of the School District of Beloit, has submitted an application for review and consideration of a
Planned Unit Development (PUD) - Master Land Use Plan for the construction of the School District of Beloit
Administrative Offices/Welcome Center building on the property located at 1500 Fourth Street in the City of Beloit. The
applicant has also submitted an application for a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district classification from
C-3, Community Commercial District to PUD, Planned Unit Development District, for the subject property. A copy of the
PUD - Master Land Use Plan is attached to this report.

Key Issues:
 As shown on the attachment, the proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan involves the construction of a two-story,

25,000 square-foot office building to house administrative offices, board meeting rooms, training facilities, and
other miscellaneous functions. The proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan also includes an off-street parking lot
containing 112 stalls with new driveways on Fourth Street and Shore Drive.

 The proposed building footprint includes right-of-way that is requested to be vacated. The City Council accepted a
petition to vacate said right-of-way on January 16, 2018, and a public hearing will be held on March 5, 2018.

 The PUD District is a special-purpose zoning district that permits greater flexibility in land planning and site design
standards than conventional zoning districts and is intended to provide flexibility in architectural design.

 This proposed project is the keystone project of Phase 1 of the Beloit Memorial High School Campus Master
Plan, which was developed by City planning staff, School District of Beloit administrators, Beloit 2020, Angus
Young Architects, Batterman Engineering, and Ayres Associates in 2017.

 The attached Public Notice was sent to property owners within 300 feet of the subject property.
 The proposed building footprint conflicts with an existing storm sewer main between inlets on Maple Avenue and

Fourth Street. Planning staff is recommending a condition of approval that will require relocation of the affected
storm sewer main at the applicant’s request.

 The City Engineer has reviewed the proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan and has requested the installation of
sidewalk connections from the proposed building’s entrance to the public sidewalk along Fourth Street and to the
new off-street parking lots on the subject property.

 The other Review Agents have not submitted any comments or concerns.
 Section 5-305 of the Zoning Ordinance requires the City Council to establish development standards during the

PUD process. If approved, the PUD – Master Land Use Plan would be the conceptual approval of land use,
building, and parking locations, with detailed civil site plans to follow for staff review & approval.

 Section 2-402(g) of the Zoning Ordinance allows for the approval of a PUD - if the following criteria can be met:
o The plan represents an improvement over what could have been accomplished through strict

application of otherwise applicable standards, based on the purpose and intent of the Zoning
Ordinance. The proposed PUD plan will allow the redevelopment of a vacant, underutilized parcel in a pivotal
location. The proposed building has been situated near the corner of Maple Avenue and Fourth Street, with
parking located behind the building. At the narrowest/shortest point, the proposed building has a front setback
of 8 feet and a street side setback of 12 feet, which are substantially less than the required setbacks in the C-
3 District (30’ and 15’ respectfully). This results in a superior urban and modern design, and enhances the
walkability of the development.

o The PUD - Master Land Use Plan complies with the standards of Section 5-300. Planning staff is
recommending several conditions of approval relating to allowed uses, setbacks, lot coverage, etc.

o Service providers will be able to provide necessary public services, facilities, and programs to serve
the development proposed. The subject property is already served by all City utilities, phone, cable, gas,
electric, and other services and facilities. The applicant is responsible for relocating a sewer main that
conflicts with the proposed building footprint.



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street

o The development is consistent with and implements the planning goals and objectives contained in
the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted policies and documents. The proposed development will
anchor the northern end of the planned Beloit Memorial High School Campus, which is envisioned as a
walkable district between Maple Avenue and Liberty Avenue. The Campus Master Plan includes a pedestrian
plaza, new athletic facilities, and the prioritization of gathering places over large asphalt parking lots. As the
hub of School District activity, the Welcome Center will advance the implementation of this vision. The
proposed office use is consistent with the C-3 zoning classification and permitted uses recommended by the
Comprehensive Plan. The Future Land Use Map will be updated as part of the 2018 Plan Update.

o The PUD - Master Land Use Plan is consistent with sound planning practice and the development will
promote the general welfare of the community. The proposed PUD contemplates an institutional office use
that is compatible with the nearby school campus and commercial uses. The redevelopment of this
underutilized parcel in a high visibility location is expected to spark further redevelopment activity in the
vicinity, which will benefit the entire community.

 Findings of Fact – Zoning Map Amendment - Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan
Commission shall make a recommendation based on the following considerations:
a. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property. The proposed office use is

compatible with the surrounding institutional, commercial, and open space uses. The influx of administrators,
teachers, students, parents, and visitors is expected to have a positive impact on nearby restaurants,
including The Rock and Burger King.

b. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property. The PUD is a
special-purpose zoning district classification. Planning staff is recommending a condition of approval that will
limit this PUD to institutional office uses.

c. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification.
The subject property is suitable for the uses that are permitted in the C-3 district.

d. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the subject property.
There has been limited development activity in the general area of the subject property in the recent past. The
last major redevelopment was The Rock Bar & Grill in 2006. The nearby Henry Avenue Bridge was
completely reconstructed and renamed the Ken Hendricks Memorial Bridge in 2011-2012. This
redevelopment project is expected to catalyze further redevelopment activity in the vicinity.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:
The Comprehensive Plan recommends Community Commercial uses for the subject property, which includes office uses
intended to serve the entire community, and is therefore consistent with this PUD request. The future land use
recommendation will be updated to Institutional & Community Services during the 2018 Plan Update.

Consideration of this request supports Strategic Goal #3 by creating and sustaining economic and residential growth.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – The proposed PUD plan will allow the redevelopment of a vacant,

underutilized parcel in a walkable location that will utilize existing utilities.
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – The redevelopment of this

underutilized parcel in a high visibility location is expected to spark further redevelopment activity in the vicinity,
which will benefit the entire community.

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the PUD - Master Land Use Plan and a Zoning Map
Amendment to change the zoning district classification from C-3, Community Commercial District to PUD, Planned Unit
Development District, for the construction of the School District of Beloit Administrative Offices/Welcome Center building
on the property located at 1500 Fourth Street, subject to the following conditions:

1. This approval authorizes the construction of a School District of Beloit office building and related parking lots as
shown on the attached PUD – Master Land Use Plan and architectural renderings. No other commercial or
residential uses are allowed on the subject property.

2. Prior to issuance of a Building Permit for this project, the applicant shall obtain an Architectural Review Certificate
and a Certificate of Zoning Compliance.

3. This development is allowed one freestanding monument sign up to 15 feet in height and 150 square feet in area,
which may not include an Electronically Variable Message (EVM) component. The building may include up to
three (3) wall signs of up to 45 square-feet per sign.

4. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall relocate the existing storm sewer main that
conflicts with the building footprint and shall obtain approval of an easement release. The applicant shall obtain
City Engineer approval of and permits for all public utility work.



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street

5. The site plan shall include all of the sidewalk connections requested by the City Engineer.
6. The minimum building setbacks shall be those shown on the attached PUD – Master Land Use Plan. The

maximum height shall be three stories and the site shall retain at least 20 percent open space.
7. The applicant shall comply with all DNR requirements pertaining to storage, hauling, and disposal of

contaminated soil.
8. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission

and City Council by amending this PUD – Master Land Use Plan. The Director of Planning & Building Services
may approve minor changes administratively and allow accessory structures and uses that comply with and meet
all of the standards and requirements of the City of Beloit Municipal Code.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: This project is being funded by the School District of Beloit.

Attachments: Proposed PUD Plan, Renderings, Applications, Public Notice, and Mailing List.



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street

Proposed PUD – Master Land Use Plan



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street



Feb. 7 Staff Report 6-7, PUD-ZMA, SDB Office, 1500 Fourth Street



Feb 7 Staff Report, FS-2018-01, Final Plat of the Oaks No. 2     

 

 
REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION 
 
 
Meeting Date: February 7, 2018 
 

Agenda Item: 8 File Number: FS-2018-01 

Applicant: R.H. Batterman & Co., Inc 
 

Owner: COB 33 LLC Location: 2750 Rachel Terrace  
 

Existing Zoning: R-1A, Single-Family 
Residential 

Existing Land Use: Agriculture, Vacant 
Land 

Platted Area: 19 Acres 

 
 
Request Overview/Background Information: 
R.H. Batterman & Co., Inc. has submitted the attached Final Plat of The Oaks No. 2 for the 19-acre property located at 2750 
Rachel Terrace. 
 
 
Key Issues: 

 The subdivision of land requires approval of a Preliminary Plat, followed by approval of a detailed Final Plat, which 
must substantially conform to the layout of the Preliminary Plat. A recorded Final Plat actually creates the lots, and 
may include the entire Preliminary Plat area or phases. The Preliminary Plat of The Oaks No. 2 was approved by the 
Plan Commission on August 9, 2017. The Final Plat includes all of the Preliminary Plat area. 

 As shown on the attached plat, the applicant has proposed the construction of a second phase of The Oaks 
subdivision consisting of 24 new single-family lots on two cul-de-sacs to be named Pheasant Field Court and 
Hunter’s Court. The subject property is already zoned R-1A, Single-Family Residential.  

 This is a larger-lot subdivision consisting of lot areas ranging from 18,474 square feet to 43,255 square feet.  The 
proposed streets will include utilities and curb & gutter. 

 Proposed Out-Lot 4 is designated for a stormwater management area which will include a dry pond. 
 Deerfield Drive and Rachel Terrace will be extended to provide access to the proposed cul-de-sacs. The developer 

plans to erect barricades at the end of all dedicated streets which do not connect to an existing street. Streets are 
designed to connect in the future. 

 The proposed plat includes numerous utility and drainage easements along the rear and side lot lines of the new 
residential lots. 

 The attached plat also includes a 20 foot wide utility, watermain, & recreational path easement located between the 
two cul-de-sacs allowing pedestrian and utility access between Pheasant Field Court and Hunter’s Court.  The Parks, 
Recreation, & Conservation Advisory Commission recommended accepting fees in lieu of parkland dedication on 
August 9, 2017. 

 The City and developer are negotiating a Development Agreement regarding the proposed infrastructure. The Final 
Plat may not be recorded until the Development Agreement is approved. 

 The Review Agents have reviewed the Final Plat and do not have any comments or concerns. 
 The Final Plat substantially conforms to the approved Preliminary Plat and the lots meet minimum standards. 
 According to Section 12.04 of the Subdivision Ordinance, a Final Plat requires review by the Plan Commission prior 

to City Council consideration. Following approval, the Final Plat will be submitted to the WI Dept. of Administration. 
 
 
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  
The Future Land Use Map of the City’s Comprehensive Plan recommends Single-Family Residential – Urban uses of the 
subject property. The proposed subdivision plat is consistent with this recommendation. Consideration of this request 
supports City of Beloit Strategic Goals #3 and #5 by encouraging residential growth with high quality infrastructure. 
 

Sustainability:   
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A 
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A 
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – The proposed plat will create 24 

new single-family lots to serve the growing housing demand in the area. 
 

Staff Recommendation: 
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached Final Plat of The Oaks No. 2 for the 
property located at 2750 Rachel Terrace in the City of Beloit, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Fees in lieu of parkland dedication shall be paid prior to issuance of the first Building Permit. 
2. The applicant shall record the Final Plat with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one year of approval. The 

Final Plat shall not be recorded until a Development Agreement has been executed. 



Feb 7 Staff Report, FS-2018-01, Final Plat of the Oaks No. 2     

 

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A 
 

Attachments:  Location & Zoning Map, Photos, Final Plat, Application, and Resolution Approving Preliminary Plat. 



Feb 7 Staff Report, FS-2018-01, Final Plat of the Oaks No. 2     



Feb 7 Staff Report, FS-2018-01, Final Plat of the Oaks No. 2     

 
 
 

Looking SE from Rachel Terrace 

Looking South from Rachel Terrace 



Feb 7 Staff Report, FS-2018-01, Final Plat of the Oaks No. 2     

 

Looking NE from Deerfield Drive/Lori Ann Drive 



Feb 7 Staff Report, FS-2018-01, Final Plat of the Oaks No. 2     

  



Feb 7 Staff Report, FS-2018-01, Final Plat of the Oaks No. 2     

 



Feb 7 Staff Report, FS-2018-01, Final Plat of the Oaks No. 2     



Feb 7 Staff Report, FS-2018-01, Final Plat of the Oaks No. 2 

 



REPORT TO THE BELOIT CITY PLAN COMMISSION

Meeting Date: February 7, 2018 Agenda Item: 9 File Number: CU-2018-01

Applicant: Hendricks Commercial
Properties LLC

Owner: Hendricks Commercial
Properties LLC

Location: 419 Pleasant Street

Existing Zoning: CBD-1, Central
Business District - Core

Existing Land Use: Office Building &
Planned Hotel & Restaurant

Parcel Size: 0.88 Acre

Request Overview/Background Information:
Hendricks Commercial Properties has filed an application for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow a rooftop seating
area and to amend the layout of an existing Drive-Up Automated Teller Machine (ATM) in the CBD-1, Central Business
District – Core, for the property located at 419 Pleasant Street.

Key Issues:
 The Plan Commission reviewed this item on January 17, 2018 and voted unanimously (7-0) to recommend

approval of the requested Conditional Use Permit, subject to the six conditions recommended by Planning staff.
The applicant submitted a revised site plan and roof plan on January 23, 2018, which led the City Council to refer
this item back to Plan Commission. The revisions include keeping a second driveway and moving the roof patio.

 The applicant has proposed the renovation of the Vision Center building into a hotel to be known as Hotel
Goodwin and a restaurant to be known as the Velvet Buffalo. The building will retain limited office space and will
retain the existing Blackhawk Community Credit Union branch, which operates the existing freestanding ATM in
the parking lot. A photo of the existing ATM is attached.

 The applicant has proposed a rooftop addition that includes a seating area for restaurant and/or hotel guests,
which requires a CUP. The applicant has also proposed a sidewalk café, which requires an annual license to use
the public sidewalk, but is not part of this CUP request.

 The proposed rooftop seating area is located in the northwest corner of the roof as shown on the attached plan,
and will be covered by a trellis. The seating area will be surrounded by an existing parapet wall and a glass railing
in order to satisfy Building Code requirements.

 The applicant has proposed a significant change in the layout of the parking lot in order to increase the number of
parking stalls on the subject property, which involves amending the 2014 CUP for the existing ATM. This project
involves removing two driveways on Public Avenue and a complete reconstruction of the parking lot, as shown on
the attached site plan. The applicant has submitted detailed site plans for staff review.

 According to Section 8-112 of the Zoning Ordinance, ATMs must have at least 3 stacking spaces that allow
change-of-mind exiting and do not impede movements in & out of off-street parking spaces. In order to address
concerns about the stacking spaces blocking parked vehicles, the applicant has agreed to sign & stripe the
affected parking stalls as bank employee-only stalls.

 The four potentially blocked/affected parking stalls (along with the entire parking lot) are voluntary off-street
parking, as there are no minimum off-street parking requirements in the Central Business District.

 The City Engineer has reviewed this application and has expressed concern about the lack of space for two-way
traffic in the drive aisle when stacked vehicles are present. Planning staff and the applicant evaluated the subject
property’s proposed layout, and while the selected layout is not ideal, it is the least problematic when maximizing
the number of parking stalls to serve the new hotel. Current use of the ATM indicates that stacked vehicles are
rarely present. The proposed layout may be an improvement over current conditions by eliminating the conflict
between ATM users and oncoming traffic and through the elimination of two driveways on Public Avenue.

 The City’s other Review Agents have reviewed this application and do not have any comments or concerns.
 The attached Public Notice was sent to six nearby property owners, which has not resulted in any comments.
 Findings of Fact. Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a

recommendation based on the following considerations:
a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be detrimental to or

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;
• Subject to certain conditions of approval, the continued use of the ATM will not be detrimental

to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare.
• The rooftop seating area will be constructed with numerous safety measures in place



including railings and security cameras.
b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the

immediate vicinity for purposes already permitted;
• The subject property is located in a downtown environment with existing glare, noise, and

commercial activity, and both proposed uses are compatible with existing conditions.
c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the

neighborhood of the subject property;
• On the contrary, the adaptive reuse of this existing office building into a hotel and restaurant

is a substantial investment that is likely to enhance property values in the area.
d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly development

and improvement of the surrounding property;
• This is an urbanized area and the surrounding properties are fully developed, with the

exception of the vacant (former church) lot to the north owned by the applicant.
e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so dissimilar

or otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate neighborhood that
it will cause a depreciation in property values;

• The proposed hotel and restaurant project will result in improvements to this significant
building, such as a new entrance canopy, new storefront windows, and a glass rooftop
atrium. All of these improvements are compatible with nearby downtown properties.

f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be available to
serve the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use;

• Adequate facilities and infrastructure are available to serve the conditional use.
g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and

• The proposed ATM includes adequate stacking spaces and the general public will not be
impeded with respect to movements in and out of affected parking stalls.

• The proposed parking lot reconfiguration will improve public safety by eliminating two
unnecessary driveways on Public Avenue and by eliminating the current condition whereby
ATM users exit while facing oncoming traffic.

h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance.
• The conditional use will comply with all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance.

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:
The Comprehensive Plan refers to the Downtown Plan, which recommends Office uses for the subject property.
According to State Statutes, Conditional Use Permits need not be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #3 by encouraging economic development.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – This adaptive reuse project will revitalize an existing structure and

support the tourism industry in an area served by existing utilities in a walkable downtown district.

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow a rooftop seating
area and to amend the layout of an existing Drive-Up Automated Teller Machine (ATM) in the CBD-1, Central Business
District – Core, for the property located at 419 Pleasant Street, based on the above Findings of Fact and subject to the
following conditions:

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes the modification of the parking lot and utilization of the existing
freestanding Drive-Up ATM as shown on the site plan submitted by the applicant.

2. Construction may not begin until the site plans are approved by Planning staff. A Lighting Plan that complies with
minimum lighting levels in the Architectural Review and Landscape Code is required.

3. Prior to use of the ATM, the applicant shall sign & stripe the four affected parking stalls that will be blocked by the
ATM’s stacking spaces as “bank employee parking only.”

4. Prior to use of the ATM, the applicant shall sign & stripe the drive aisle serving the ATM as one-way (southbound)
only through the use of painted arrows, one-way signs, and do not enter signs.

5. Prior to use of the rooftop seating area, the maximum occupancy and fire alarm systems shall be given approval
by the Building Official. An Alcoholic Beverage License is required before alcoholic beverages may be served.

6. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan Commission
and City Council by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning & Building Services may
approve minor changes administratively.

Attachments: Photos, Roof Plan, Site Plan, Application, Public Notice, and Mailing List.



Existing ATM

Public Ave Facade



Roof Plan (North ^)

Parking Plan (North ^)

Rooftop
Patio

Existing
ATM











Feb. 7 Staff Report 9, CU-2018-01, 419 Pleasant Street


